FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/15/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/14/2023 2:03 PM

No. 101801-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 83066-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ERIN BAYNE, an individual, Respondent/Plaintiff.

v.

CARLETON FARMS INC., a Washington Corporation, Petitioner/Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John C. Versnel, III, WSBA No. 17755 Andrew H. Gustafson WSBA No. 51399 Of Attorneys for Carleton Farms Inc. LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Carleton Farms, Inc. ("Carleton"), the defendant at the trial court and appellant at the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the decision identified in Part II below.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision by Division One of the Court of Appeals, *Erin Bayne v. Carleton Farms, Inc.* No. 83066-0-I, issued on February 13, 2023, affirming in part a decision of the Snohomish County Superior Court granting plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment, is attached in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Supreme Court should accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (b)(2), where Division I's ruling decided issues of fact regarding breach and causation as a matter of law, and is thus in conflict with the decisions of this Court and other courts of appeal?

2. Whether the Supreme Court should accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (b)(2), where Division I's decision effectively required Carleton to offer expert testimony in a garden-variety negligence action to raise genuine issues of material fact on breach and causation, and is thus in conflict with the decisions of this Court and other courts of appeal?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiff, an adult woman, visited Carleton's property and went down a roller slide with her child on her lap.

On October 19, 2019, Ms. Bayne, a 33-year-old woman, visited the "Fall Festival" on Carleton's family farm ("the Farm") with her partner and two minor stepsons. CP 248. The farm included a roller slide for children. *Id.* Ms. Bayne decided to go down the slide while holding her three-year-old stepson in her lap and covering her son's "face and head with her arms." CP 249. She claims she was "propelled forward" into a wooden fence post, causing injuries to her nose and face.

Id. On October 16, 2020, Ms. Bayne filed a complaint againstCarleton, setting forth negligence as the lone cause of action.CP 247-50.

B. In granting Carleton's motion for discretionary review, Commissioner Jennifer Koh found the trial court obviously erred by deciding questions of reasonableness, which are usually left to the jury, as a matter of law.

On June 7, 2021, Ms. Bayne filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Affirmative Defenses and Liability, asking the court to (1) dismiss Carleton's affirmative defenses of agritourism immunity and contributory negligence; and (2) determine Carleton was at fault for her injuries. CP 223-241. Ms. Bayne's motion invited the court to determine the ultimate issue of Carleton's negligence. CP 236-240. Ms. Bayne relied exclusively on the declaration of an expert biomechanist to argue that the subject roller slide unquestionably constituted an unsafe condition. *Id.*

Carleton opposed the motion, on the basis that (1) questions of fact remained as to whether Ms. Bayne was

contributorily negligent; and (2) there was no basis to rule, as a matter of law, that Carleton breached a duty to Ms. Bayne or was conclusively at fault for her alleged injuries. CP 76-85. Carleton argued that the issue of contributory negligence is generally reserved for the jury, and that only in rare circumstances – where the evidence is conclusive – is the court warranted in withdrawing the issue from the jury. CP 82. Carleton also argued that whether a defendant breached a duty is normally a question of fact, and that, given the evidence presented in the case, reasonable minds could differ as to whether the subject roller slide constituted a dangerous condition. CP 82-3. Carleton argued that there was no basis to find it negligent as a matter of law. *Id*.

On July 7, 2021, the trial court heard Ms. Bayne's motion for summary judgment and entered an order granting the motion unconditionally. CP 28-9. On July 16, 2021, Carleton filed a Motion for Reconsideration. CP 18-27. Carleton pointed out the biomechanist expert did not opine that certain

safety guidelines, cited at length in his declaration, actually applied to the subject roller slide or Ms. Bayne's use thereof, and there is nothing to suggest non-compliance with these voluntary guidelines somehow constitutes dispositive evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition or ultimate negligence by Carleton. CP 21-25. Nevertheless, on July 30, 2021, the trial court entered an order denying reconsideration. CP 5-7.

On August 27, 2021, Carleton moved for discretionary review pursuant to RAP 5.1. CP 1-4. Carleton contented Ms. Bayne failed to meet her burden of proof regarding both Carleton's alleged negligence and Carleton's affirmative defense of contributory negligence. Commissioner Jennifer Koh agreed and granted discretionary review, finding the trial court obviously erred by deciding questions of reasonableness, which are usually left to the jury, as a matter of law.

C. Despite breach and causation being questions of fact, Division One held plaintiff proved these elements as a matter of law, because Carleton presented no confficting expert testimony as to whether the roller slide is reasonably safe.

On February 13, 2023, Division I affirmed in part the trial court's ruling. Appx 001. Division I reversed the trial court's dismissal of Carleton's affirmative defense of contributory negligence, finding the evidence establishes a question of fact regarding whether plaintiff contributed to her injuries. *Id.* Specifically, Division I reasoned that because the evidence showed plaintiff had a child on her lap when she went down the slide and one of plaintiff's arms was occupied by holding the child on her lap, a reasonable juror could conclude that plaintiff contributed to her own injuries. Appx 017.

Division I affirmed the trial court's ruling that Carleton was negligent as a matter of law, finding Carleton failed to provide sufficient issues of material fact as to liability. Appx 001. The court conceded the testimony of plaintiff's biomechanics expert was not automatically dispositive in this type of negligence claim, but that such "testimony is permissible to assist with establishing the elements of negligence." Appx 010. Despite breach being a question of

fact, Division I reasoned plaintiff proved Carleton breached the duty of care owed to plaintiff as a matter of law, because Carleton failed to offer any evidence contradicting plaintiff's expert testimony. Appx 011. Similarly, despite causation being a question of fact, Division I found: "Without any evidence to contradict Bayne's expert, reasonable minds can conclude only that the hazardous conditions of the slide were the cause of Bayne's injury." Appx 015. This Petition for Review followed.

V. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND ARGUMENT

A. Grounds for accepting review exist here.

The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), and (b)(2). The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with several decisions of this Court and other published Washington appellate decisions. In determining plaintiff established breach and a causation as a matter of law, Division One's ruling conflicts with established jurisprudence plainly holding these are issues to be determined by the trier of fact.

- B. Review is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) because Division One's decision conflicts with the jurisprudence of this Court and other courts of appeal.
 - 1. Under settled Washington law, the issues of breach and causation are determined by the trier of fact.

Facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom are considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Marincovich v. Tarabochia*, 114 Wn.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990). Indeed, the court "examine[s] the record, including the pleadings,...admissions on file, and affidavits, in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, drawing all reasonable inference in the nonmoving party's favor, to determine if a genuine material issue of fact exists. *Landstar Inway Inc. v. Samrow*, 181 Wn. App. 109, 120, 325 P.3d 327, 335 (2014).

Summary judgment is proper only if, considering all available evidence, reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion. *Estate of Becker v. Avco Corp.*, 187 Wn.2d 615, 621, 387 P.3d 1066 (2017). Ultimately, the moving party bears the burden of proving that there is no issue of material fact.

Wojcik v. Chrysler Corp., 50 Wn. App. 849, 854, 751 P.2d 854 (1988).

Here, Division One's decision affirming plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment on liability conflicts with settled Washington jurisprudence holding the issues of breach and causation in negligence actions are determined by the trier of fact.

With respect to breach, whether one who is charged with negligence has exercised reasonable care is a question of fact for the jury. *Gordon v. Deer Park School Dist. No. 414*, 71 Wn.2d 119, 122, 426 P.2d 824 (1967). "In a negligence action, whether a defendant has breached the duty of care generally is a question of fact." *Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C.*, 180 Wn. App. 689, 705, 324 P.3d 743 (2014).

Indeed, while the question of whether a legal duty exists may be a question of law, whether a party has breached a duty is a question of fact. *Lee v. Willis Enterprises*, Inc., 194 Wn.

App. 394, 401, 377 P.3d 244 (2016). It is the function of the trier of fact to decide whether a particular harm should have been anticipated and whether reasonable care was taken to protect against the harm, *Degel v. Majestic Mobile Manor, Inc.*, 129 Wn.2d 43, 54, 914 P.2d 728 (1996) citing *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc'y*, 124 Wn.2d 141, 875 P.2d 621 (1994). Whether a defendant has taken reasonable precautions necessary to protect invitees from foreseeable risks is a question of fact for the jury. *Lettengarver v. Port of Edmonds*, 40 Wn. App. 581, 699 P.2d 793 (1985) citing *Climinski v. Finn Corp., Inc.*, 13 Wn. App. 815, 537 P.2d 850 (1975).

Similarly, cause in fact presents a question for the trier of fact and is generally not susceptible to summary judgment. *Behla v. R.J. Jung, LLC,* 11 Wn. App. 2d 329, 347, 453 P.3d 729 (2019) (reversing summary judgment dismissal by finding genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether cable was proximate cause of tenant's fall). Causation is normally a jury question, becoming a question of law for the court "only when

the causal connection is so speculative and indirect that reasonable minds could not differ." *Mehlert v. Baseball of Seattle, Inc.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 115, 119, 404 P.3d 97 (2017) (reversing summary judgment dismissal by finding genuine issue of material fact regarding whether absence of required handrails adjacent to ramp leading into retail store was proximate cause of customer's injuries).

Here, despite the wealth of Washington jurisprudence unequivocally holding the issues of breach and causation are questions to be determined by the trier of fact, Division One found plaintiff established these elements as a matter of law exclusively based on the declaration of a biomechanics expert. In effect, Division One's ruling required Carleton to present conflicting expert testimony on the issue of whether the slide constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition in order to raise genuine issues of material fact on breach and causation.

Tellingly, Division One cites no on point authority in support of its position. Rather, as explained above, this Court

and other appellate courts have repeatedly held issues of reasonableness with respect to breach and causation are to be decided by the trier of fact. Further, the conclusory opinions of Ms. Bayne's expert regarding the design and placement of the subject roller slide alone do not establish an unreasonably dangerous condition as a matter of law. Ms. Bayne's expert did not even opine that certain safety guidelines, cited at length in his declaration, actually applied to the subject roller slide or Ms. Bayne's use thereof, and there is nothing to suggest noncompliance with these voluntary guidelines somehow constitutes dispositive evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition or ultimate negligence by Carleton. CP 21-25. Thus, Division One's ruling conflicts with settled Washington law.

2. Unlike claims of professional negligence where expert testimony is generally required to establish the standard of care, this is not the type of negligence claim in which expert testimony is automatically dispositive

Division One's decision conflicts with this Court's jurisprudence by effectively requiring Carleton to have offered

competing expert testimony regarding whether the roller side at issue was reasonably safe. This is not a claim for professional negligence. Plaintiff is not suing the manufacturer of the slide for a design defect. Rather, this is a garden-variety negligence claim in which Carleton is being sued for allegedly not maintaining its premises in a reasonably safe manner. This is not the type of negligence claim in which expert testimony is automatically dispositive. *McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp.*, 113 Wn. 2d 701, 706-07, 782 P.2d 1045, 1048 (1989) ("To establish the standard of care required of professional practitioners, that standard must be established by the testimony of experts who practice in the same field.")

Here, this principle does not apply, as laymen consume outdoor recreation services, such as slides, and can thus determine, without the aid of expert testimony, whether the subject slide constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition. Division One conceded the testimony of plaintiff's biomechanics expert was not automatically dispositive in this

type of negligence claim, but that such "testimony is permissible to assist with establishing the elements of negligence." Appx 010.

Nevertheless, Division One's holding that the testimony of plaintiff's expert "conclusively demonstrates" that the slide's design and placement created an unreasonably dangerous condition effectively requires Carleton to counter with its own expert testimony. This conflicts with settled Washington law holding issues of breach and causation are to be determined by the trier of fact – a jury should be free to determine that the testimony of plaintiff's expert is inapplicable, even without rebuttal testimony from a defense expert. In clear conflict with Washington jurisprudence, Division One removed the issues of breach of duty, reasonable care, and proximate cause from the jury, and decided on its own accord the ultimate issue of liability as a matter of law.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, Carleton respectfully asks this Court to grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals' decision on liability, and remand this matter to the trial court for further proceedings.