I.       INTRODUCTION  

This is a premises liability case.  Respondent Erin Bayne 

asks the Court to deny Appellant (Carleton Farms)’s petition for 

review of the Court of Appeal’s decision affirming the trial 

court’s order granting summary judgment.    

Ms. Bayne was at Carleton Farms with her family.  She 

accompanied her three-year-old stepson down a slide.   

There was no transition zone at the bottom of the slide.  

The transition zone is the horizontal area designed to slow users 

down before they exit and help them go from sitting to standing.   

The bottom of the slide was only six feet away from a 

fence post.   

Ms. Bayne and her stepson reached the bottom of the slide.  

Momentum propelled Ms. Bayne and her stepson towards the 

fence post.   

Ms. Bayne hit the fence post face-first.  She suffered a 

brain injury. 
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Ms. Bayne filed suit.  She moved for summary judgment 

on liability.   

Ms. Bayne offered evidence (including expert testimony) 

showing that the absence of a transition zone and placement of 

the slide so close to the fence created an unreasonably dangerous 

condition.   

Carleton Farms did not present any evidence in opposition. 

The Superior Court granted Ms. Bayne’s summary 

judgment motion.   

The Court of Appeals agreed that Carleton Farms was 

negligent as a matter of law.   

II.      STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Ms. Bayne filed suit against Carleton Farms after being 

injured on its property.  CP 249.  She alleged that Carleton 

Farms breached its duty of care to her by having a dangerous 

roller slide on its property. Id.   She alleged that the slide 

constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition and 

proximately caused her injuries.  Id.  
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Ms. Bayne brought a motion for summary judgment.  CP 

223-241.  She asked the Superior Court to find that Carleton 

Farms was liable for her injuries.  Id.  The Superior Court 

granted that motion.  CP 28-29. 

The Court of Appeals, Division I, agreed that Carleton 

Farms was liable as a matter of law because it failed to present 

any evidence that could raise a genuine issue of material fact.   

A.      Factual Background 

On October 19, 2019 Ms. Bayne and her family visited 

Carleton Farms.  CP 253.  Ms. Bayne and her three-year-old 

stepson Hudson went down a roller slide.  CP 254.   

There was a fence post right in front of the slide’s exit 

zone (the area where a user regains their balance after exiting 

the slide).  CP 255.   

Ms. Bayne and her stepson reached the bottom of the 

slide.  Id.  Momentum carried them toward the fence post that 

was only six feet away from the bottom of the slide.  Id.   



 
 

 
 

7 

Ms. Bayne covered her stepson’s face with her arms.  CP 

248.  She hit the wooden fence post face-first.  CP 255.   

 

CP 219. 

Ms. Bayne broke her nose and suffered a Traumatic 

Brain Injury as a result.  CP 249. 
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B.      Ms. Bayne’s Motion for Summary Judgment 

On June 7, 2021 Ms. Bayne moved for summary 

judgment.  She asked the Superior Court to determine that 

Carleton Farms was at fault for her injuries as a matter of law 

CP 223-241.   

Ms. Bayne offered testimony describing the placement of 

slide and its lack of a transition.  Id.    
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Plaintiff’s expert Dr. Bauer offered expert testimony that 

the slide constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition: 

The as-built geometry of the slide did not allow for 
any speed reduction toward the bottom of the slide. 
The increased velocity at the bottom of the slide 
prevented Ms. Bayne from achieving a smooth 
transition from sitting to standing in violation of 
CPSC Section “5.3.6.4 Chute exit region”… As a 
result, Ms. Bayne’s forward momentum prevented 
her from transitioning smoothly and required 
multiple steps to attempt to gain her balance. The 
lack of space between the bottom of the slide and 
the fence did not give Ms. Bayne adequate room to 
regain her balance before striking the fence post 
with her head and face.   

  

  CP 221.  He also testified:  

Ms. Bayne should not have expected to encounter 
the hazard created by the dangerous slide geometry 
and placement with respect to the fence and 
fenceposts. Expectancy is one of the most relevant 
attentional factors that contribute to object or 
hazard detection/identification. Expectancy is the 
predisposition of individuals to believe that things 
will happen or be configured in certain ways. The 
availability of the slide for public use gave Ms. 
Bayne the expectation that the slide was safe for 
public use. However, the slide on Carleton Farms 
was unreasonably dangerous at the time of the 
incident. This dangerous condition caused Ms. 
Bayne’s fall and subsequent injuries. 
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  CP 222.  Carleton Farms did not offer any evidence.   

It did not offer testimony that that the slide was not 

unreasonably dangerous.  CP 5-7.   

C.      The Court Grants Ms. Bayne’s Motion  

The Superior Court heard oral argument on July 7, 

2021.  CP 28-29.  The Superior Court determined that Ms. 

Bayne satisfied her burden of proof and noted that Carleton 

Farms did not present any evidence or argument creating a 

genuine issue of material fact concerning liability.    CP 29. 

D.      Carleton Farms Motion for Reconsideration 

Carleton Farms moved for reconsideration on July 16, 

2021.  CP 18-27. 

It argued that negligence is a  questions traditionally 

reserved for the jury and that the Superior Court failed to view 

the evidence in the light most favorable to it as the nonmoving 

party.  Id. 
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E.      The Court Denies Carleton Farms’ Motion for 
Reconsideration 

  
The Superior Court denied Carleton Farms’ motion for 

reconsideration on July 30, 2021.  CP 5-7.  It issued a written 

opinion that explained its decision.   

The Superior Court acknowledged that generally issues 

of negligence and causation involve questions of 

fact.  Id.  However, in this case Ms. Bayne presented lay and 

expert testimony establishing that the slide constituted an 

unreasonably hazardous condition and Carleton Farms 

presented no evidence that the slide was not unreasonably 

dangerous.  Id.     

F.      Carleton Farms Moves for Discretionary 
Review 

 

On August 27, 2021 Carleton Farms moved for discretionary 

review.  CP 1-4.   

Commissioner Koh granted discretionary review.   
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G. The Court Of Appeals Affirms That Carleton 
Farms Was Liable As A Matter of Law.  

 
Division I agreed that Carleton Farms did not submit any 

declarations from lay or expert witnesses, deposition transcripts 

from any lay or expert witnesses or any other evidence 

controverting Ms. Bayne’s proof regarding the dangerousness 

of the slide.1  Petr’s App. A at 002. 

It agreed that Ms. Bayne had presented sufficient 

evidence to establish liability as a matter of law and Carleton 

Farms did not present any rebuttal evidence.  Id.     

 III.    ARGUMENT 

 The Court of Appeals opinion was based on established 

Washington law.   

CR 56 lists the ways in which the non-moving party can 

present evidence to establish that there is some genuine issue of 

 
 
1 The Court of Appeals Decision is attached as Appendix A to Petitioner’s Petition for 
Review.  Respondent cites to that decision as Petr’s App. A. 
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material fact that needs to be decided by the jury.  Carleton 

Farms presented nothing. 

Carleton Farms offered no evidence that the slide was not 

dangerous.  It argued only that reasonable minds could differ on 

the issue.   

Carleton Farms did not offer declarations from its own 

employees.  It did not take Ms. Bayne’s deposition (or any 

deposition), hire an expert to evaluate the safety of the slide or 

hire an expert to analyze consumer expectations in terms of the 

slide on which Ms. Bayne was hurt. 

Carleton Farms offered no evidence that it exercised 

reasonable care to protect Ms. Bayne or other visitors from the 

unreasonably dangerous condition.  It produced no evidence of 

regarding safety measures taken before Ms. Bayne’s injuries (or 

after).   
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A.      RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Do Not Provide Grounds 
For Review. 

 

 A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme 

Court if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 

existing Washington law.   

 The Court of Appeals agreed with Snohomish County 

Superior Court:  Carleton Farms did not produce any evidence 

to rebut Ms. Bayne’s evidence establishing that the slide was 

unreasonably dangerous.   

 Division I’s decision that Carleton Farms breached its 

duty of care identified and tracked Washington law stating that 

when a party does not present any evidence sufficient to create 

a genuine dispute of material fact, summary judgment can (and 

should) be granted.   
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B. Division I’s Decision was in Accord with 
Established Washington Law.   

 

The Court of Appeals engaged in the same inquiry as the 

trial court.  Syrovy v. Alpine Resources, Inc., 122 Wn.2d 544, 

548 n.3 859 P.2d 51 (1993).  Summary Judgment is appropriate 

“if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and 

admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that 

there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the 

moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.  CR 

56(c); Young v. KeyPharm Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 

182 (1989).    

When reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion, 

questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law on 

summary judgment. Hartley v. State, 103 Wn.2d 768, 775, 698 

P.2d 77 (1985).  Once the movant shows an absence of material 

fact, the nonmoving party has the burden to show the existence 

of a genuine issue of material fact.  Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc., 

123 Wn.2d 649,654, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994).   A material fact is 
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one that affects the outcome of the litigation.  Lamon v. 

McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 

(1979).  

A party opposing summary judgment must produce 

specific evidence that demonstrates a genuine dispute of material 

fact.  Boguch v. Landover Corp., 153 Wn. App. 595, 610, 224 

P.3d 795, 803 (2009).  Conclusory allegations, speculative 

statements or argumentative assertions are not specific evidence 

through which a party can meet its burden of production.  Id.  

Opposing summary judgment requires setting forth 

evidentiary facts, information as to what took place versus a 

supposition or an opinion.  Johnson v. Recreational Equip., Inc., 

159 Wn. App. 939, 954, 247 P.3d 18 (2011) (citing Snohomish 

County v. Rugg, 115 Wn. App. 218, 224, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002)). 
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 C.      Carleton Farms Created No Genuine Issues of 
Material Fact Regarding the Unreasonably 
Hazardous Nature of the Slide. 

 

Carleton Farms breached its duty of care by designing an 

unreasonably dangerous slide and placing it in an unreasonably 

dangerous location.   

Washington applies the principles of the Restatement 

(Second) of Torts §§ 343 and 343A (1965) to determine a 

landowner’s duty to invitees with regard to conditions on the 

land: 

A possessor of land is subject to liability for 
physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition 
on the land if, but only if, he: 
  
(a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care 
would discover the condition, and       should realize 
that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such 
invitees, and  
 
(b) should expect that they will not discover or 
realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves 
against it, and  
 
(c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them 
against the danger.   
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Landowners have an affirmative duty to seek out all 

potentially dangerous conditions and make them safe or warn 

invitees.  Egede-Nissan v. Crystal Mountain, 93 Wn. 2d 127 

(1980).  

To establish that a landowner has a duty to protect an 

invitee, the plaintiff must show the landowner had actual or 

constructive notice of the unsafe condition.  Ingersoll v. 

DeBartolo, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 649, 652, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994).    

Actual notice does not need to be shown if the defendant 

created the dangerous condition.  See, e.g., Impero v. Whatcom 

County, 71 Wn.2d 438, 441–42, 445, 430 P.2d 173 (1967) 

(alteration of drainage sump by county caused lid to be 

insecure); Russell v. City of Grandview, 39 Wn.2d 551, 553, 

236 P.2d 1061 (1951) (if the dangerous condition is created by 

the defendant then the plaintiff need not show notice).   

Carleton Farms (or its agents) created the dangerous 

condition.  It either constructed or had someone construct the 

slide and place it six feet from the fence.  Notice does not need 
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to be shown and Carleton Farms’ duty as a matter of law is 

established.   

Carleton Farms does not dispute that it owed a duty to 

protect Ms. Bayne.  It only argues that reasonable minds could 

differ about whether it breached that duty and that its breach 

caused Ms. Bayne’s injuries.   

 
1.      The Slide’s Design and Placement Created an 

Unreasonably Dangerous Condition  
 

There were two things that were unsafe about the Slide.   

First, the Slide didn’t have an adequate (or any) transition 

at the bottom.  A horizontal transition at the bottom of the slide 

helps users slow down and facilitates a smooth transition from 

sitting to standing when exiting.  It’s the part identified with the 

arrow: 



 
 

 
 

20 

 

The Slide did not have this.  It had a constant slope all 

the way down to the ground.   

 

CP 220.  

Exit close to horll.onlol 

~ ~s:~,°' o~her moons to chonnol 
~•• ~n,ng posotoon 

Figure 8. (LEFT) Illustration from the CPSC "Public Playground Safety HandbooK' showing a typical slide 
configuration, where the exit is close to horizontal, consistent with ASTM F1487; and (RIGHT) Photograph 
of the subject slide at carleton Farms showing that the chute has a constant slope and no exit zone. 
Instead users are directed into the ground and required to absorb all of the speed gained on the slide with 
their legs upon reaching the end of the slide. 
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The second reason the Slide was unsafe was because it 

was placed too close to the fence post.  It did not have an 

adequate exit zone.  The exit zone is an unobstructed area after 

a user exits the slide that gives the exiting user a chance to 

safely regain their footing.   

 

 

CP 221.  
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The placement of the fence right in front of the slide 

mean that there was no unobstructed area for users to exit the 

slide and regain their feet.  There was a six foot gap between 

where users would exit the slide and the fence.  For context six 

feet is two big steps for most people.   

The Slide failed to meet safety standards associated with 

playground equipment:  

APPLICABLE 
CODE 

CODE REQUIREMENT THE 
SLIDE 

Section 5.3.6.4 of 
the US Consumer 
Product Safety 
Commission Public 
Playground Safety 
Handbook 

All slides should have [a 
transition zone] to help 
children maintain their 
balance and facilitate a 
smooth transition from 
sitting to standing when 
exiting. The chute 
[transition zone] should: 
Be between 0 and -4° as 
measured from a plane 
parallel to the 
ground…[and] at least 11 
inches long. 

No 
transition 
zone 

Section 5.3.6.4 of 
the US Consumer 
Product Safety 
Commission Public 
Playground Safety 
Handbook 

For slides less than or 
equal to 6 feet high, the use 
zone in front of the exit 
should be at least 6 feet. 
For slides greater than 6 
feet high, the use zone in 

[Exit 
zone] was 
6.3 feet 
and 
contained 
no 
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front of the exit should be 
at least as long as the slide 
is high up to a maximum of 
8 feet. 

transition 
to an 
angle less 
than 5 
degrees. 

CP 219.  

Carleton Farms rebuttal is that expert testimony is not 

automatically dispositive because this isn’t the type of case that 

requires expert testimony.  

But there was no evidence that the design of the slide was 

reasonably safe.  Or that the proximity of it to the fence post 

was reasonably safe.  There was no issue for a jury to decide or 

competing evidence for it to weigh.   

Expert testimony isn’t automatically dispositive in a case 

like this.  But expert testimony is permissible to establish the 

elements of negligence.  Davis v. Baugh Indus. Contractors, 

Inc., 159 Wn.2d 413, 420-21, 150 P.3d 545 (2007).    

Carleton Farms argues that the safety standards in the 

Consumer Product Safety Commission Public Playground 

Safety Handbook are “voluntary.”  CP 22.  
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Voluntary standards are not a basis for establishing 

negligence per se; but they are relevant to determine whether 

conduct is reasonable or something is reasonably safe.  

Nordstrom v. White Metal Rolling & Stamping Corp., 75 

Wn.2d 629, 453 P.2d 619 (1969).   

That’s important because Ms. Bayne does not claim 

Carleton Farms was negligent per se because the slide violated 

CPSC Playground Safety Handbook § 5.3.6.4.  She contends 

only that the slide’s failure to comply with CPSC guidelines is 

evidence of negligence.  And that evidence—plus the other 

evidence offered of negligence—was unrebutted.   

2. Carleton Farms’ Failure to Offer Evidence   

  Carleton Farms did not present any evidence 

contradicting the testimony from Ms. Bayne and Dr. Bauer that 

the fence was unreasonably dangerous.   
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 D. Summary Judgment on Liability is Proper 

When Evidence is Uncontroverted 

 Issues of breach and causation are generally left to the 

trier of fact. Moore v. Hagge, 158 Wash.App. 137, 148, 241 

P.3d 787 (2010), review denied, 171 Wash.2d 1004, 249 P.3d 

181 (2011).  But when the evidence presented means that 

reasonable minds could only reach but one conclusion, 

summary judgment is appropriate.  Id.  

 That is the case here.  

 It does not contradict existing Washington law that 

Carleton Farms failed to present any evidence to oppose 

summary judgment.  

 IV.    CONCLUSION 

Ms. Bayne offered documentary evidence along with lay 

and expert testimony proving that the Slide was an unreasonably 

dangerous condition.   

Carleton Farms failed to present any factual or evidentiary 

support sufficient to create a genuine dispute of material fact.   
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The trial court agreed.  The Court of Appeals agreed.   

This Court should deny Petitioner Carlton Farms’ petition 

for review.